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Brett and Karen Tower, Brian and Jennifer Stuclké&stly Gilmore and Donysia Green-

Gilmore, Donald and Melody Bosley, and Debbie Béd®aintiffs”) hereby allege and
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state the following Complaint against Defendants@tbn Partners, Inc., Joanne Mitchell
and Todd Mitchell, (hereinafter referred to colleely as “Defendants”).
PARTIES

1. Plaintiffs Brett and Karen Tower are United Staiéigens residing in the
State of Florida.

2. Plaintiffs Brian and Jennifer Stuckert are Unit¢dt&s citizens residing in
the State of Virginia.

3. Plaintiffs Kelly Gilmore and Donysia Green-Gilmaee United States
citizens residing in the State of California.

4. Plaintiffs Donald and Melody Bosley are United 8¢atitizens residing in
the State of California.

5. Plaintiff Debbie Beaty is a United States citizesiding in the State of
Florida.

6. Defendant Adoption Partners, Inc. (“AP”) is a SoG#rolina For-Profit
Corporation with a principal place of businessi Carriage Hill Road, Simpsonville,
South Carolina, 29681.

7. Defendants Joanne (“JM”) and Todd Mitchell (“TMeaupon information
and belief United States citizens residing in tteeSof South Carolina. JM held herself
out to be the Chief Executive Officer of AP, it®8ident and its Director and an expert in

Guatemalan Adoptions. TM is upon information anligha Director of AP.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. This action is brought under the Federal Racketdierenced and Corrupt
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Organization ("RICQO") statute, 18 U.S.C. § 196%e#., and various other Maryland
statutes and common law doctrines. The mattewniraversy exceeds the sum or value of
Seventy-Five Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($75,@)0dXclusive of interest and costs,
and is between citizens of different states. diati®n is vested in this Court by virtue of 28
U.S.C. 88§ 1331 and 1332.

9. Because claims brought under Florida law are aselated to Plaintiffs’
federal claims, over which the Court has originakgdiction, that they form part of the same
case or controversy under Article 11l of the Uni&tes Constitution, the Court also has
jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ Florida common law ésstatutory claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 1367.

10. A substantial part of the events and omissionsigitise to the claims
stated herein occurred in this District and aledefants are subject to the personal
jurisdiction of this judicial district. Venue isqper in this District and Division pursuant to

28 U.S.C. 88 1391 and to 18 U.S.C. §1965(b).

BACKGROUND ALLEGATIONS

Plaintiffs Brett and Karen Tower

11. Plaintiffs Brett and Karen Tower (“Plaintiffs”) deled to adopt a child from
Guatemala. After spending several months reseayedaption agencies they decided to
use Defendant AP. One of the reasons that thetifflachose Defendant AP as an agency
was that it advertised that it was a non-profit(6DB agency.ee Exhibit A)

12. Plaintiffs were further induced into using DefendAR for their adoption program

because of the multiple claims listed on the web3ihese included sections on
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Commitment, Honesty, Communication and other statésn This agency was advertised
as “your Guatemalan Adoption Specialist.” Defendsiats statement on the website
“Adoption Partners is the only licensed agency Wilitpersonally visit with your baby in
Guatemala every 4 weeks.” These statements wernet hoaaduce prospective adoptive
parents into trusting the Defendants to profesdiipnamplete the adoptionsSée Exhibit
B)

13. On or about May 26, 2006, the Plaintiffs contractéith Defendant AP to begin
their adoption.

14.0n or about July 21, 2006, even though the Pl&ntiere not “paper ready” (all
dossier paperwork prepared and approved by thews®@s and Immigration Service),
Defendant JM matched the Plaintiffs with a refefoalittle boy, Oliver. Gee Exhibit C)

15.0n or about July 21, 2006, Defendant JM once aggihan e-mail that stated that
the Defendants had employees in Guatemala thaketiéeach and every case, each and
every day.” See Exhibit D)

16. The Plaintiffs had their dossier complete on amu®ugust 10, 2006. Plaintiffs
remained matched with young Oliver and proceeddul twe adoption process. At that time
the Plaintiffs sent a check for $12,000.00 to tleéeddants.

17.0n or about September 7, 2006, the Plaintiffs weckan e-mail advising them that
the DNA taken of Oliver was a match with the birtither and that the case was going to
the Embassy and would afterward be submitted tod@laria Nacional de Guatemala
(“PGN”) (equivalent to the Attorney General’'s O#icby “October 10 at the latestS¢e

Exhibit E)
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18. The Plaintiffs received an e-mail that the adoptibgoung Oliver had received pre-
approval on October 10, 2006. They were told byeDéant JM that it would take a day or
two before the case would be submitted to PGNirfatization.

19.On or about October 18, 2006, the Plaintiffs waieed by Defendant JM that
their case was in PGNSée Exhibit F)

20.0n or around November 17, 2006, the Plaintiffs thed teenaged daughters
traveled to Guatemala to visit young Oliver anddwaith their son. When the Plaintiffs
returned they emailed Defendant JM to tell her ttached the family was with Oliver.
(See Exhibit G)

21.0n or about November 27, 2006, Defendant JM resgabtwithe Plaintiffs that
“There is no other case more VIP than this oneavéen the hands of the PGN but are
pulling every string we can to get your case mdedtie top of the pile."See Exhibit H)

22.0n or about December 26, 2006, Defendants sernoeail to all of the
prospective adoptive parents advising them thatggmhad been made in Guatemala and
among other things, any parents wanting to trawelldvneed to provide a Visit Affidavit
to the U.S. Embassy. Upon information and belref,Defendants were using this as an
excuse to deter parents from traveling to Guatetoalssit their children.$ee Exhibit I)

23.0n or about January 12, 2007, after several regjuestendant JM sent the
Plaintiffs the PGN number to show that the adoptiad been submitted into PGN. When
Plaintiffs questioned Defendant JM how she was @bfget the PGN number so quickly,
Defendant JM responded “We have always had it. Nd agency ever gets them and no

one ever hands them outSde Exhibit J)
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24.(Due to the vague answers) that the Defendantbéwal providing the Plaintiffs, the
Plaintiffs began to worry that there were problemth the adoption so they hired
Adoptions Supervisors (“AS”) to check into the stabf the adoption. The Plaintiffs spent
an additional $3,000.00 to hire AS.

25.0n or about January 23, 2007, the Plaintiffs wiotine Defendants to tell them
how disappointed they were with the lies that thagt been told. The Defendants had told
the Plaintiffs that they were submitted to PGN ataDer 17, 2006 but the actual date of
submission was December 21, 2006. This fact waswordovered after hiring outside help
(AS). On January 23, the case was still sittinth@éadmissions office, and had not even
been assigned to a first reviewer. No one in PGINIdwaked at the case for a full 7 weeks.
Defendants had been giving false information toRfaentiffs. See Exhibit K)

26. The Defendants replied by stating “We have justadisred and confirmed this
information as of late yesterday too. We are vé&gupointed to find thahe officenot
only lied to us but went to great lengths to deeeis about the actual case assigned to other
case numbers.” “Adoption Partners goes to gregttarto keep on the cases and most
certainly has paid much more attention to this.dasever crossed our minds that an
office would produce fake PGN receipts and asssitbat a case number was in fact
assigned to one family when in reality it was assthto a totally different agencySée
Exhibit L)

27.0n or about February 28, 2007, the Plaintiffs agtVihe Defendants that they were
planning on traveling to visit Oliver again. Thef@®dants warned the Plaintiffs that they
could not travel to visit their son (although thed successfully done so twice before). The

reason the Defendants gave was thEté police raided several foster mothers homes
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yesterday. ...Guatemala is not very adoption friendlyight now and we are not
allowing any families to visit at all.”. In an attempt to scare the Plaintiffs and to név
their traveling to visit their son. Defendant ARtvertising had stated that visiting was
open any timg(See Exhibit M)

28.0n or about March 28, 2007, Plaintiffs learned frdBithat there was a problem
with their case. Plaintiffs wrote to the Defendantadvise them that the file had been
“kicked out” of PGN for a previo (mistake that mbst corrected before the adoption
paperwork can be approved by the PGN). The casé&iaked out on March 13, 2007 and
was still sitting on the desk of PGN. Again provihgt the Defendants ditbt have a
person checking the adoption cases daily desptated assuranceSeg Exhibit N)

29.0n or about April 5, 2007, the Plaintiffs once agasked the Defendants if they
would make arrangements for Oliver to visit if tlaintiffs traveled to Guatemala.
Defendants responded with “We can not guaranteéettyechild with this office will
actually be able to come to the hotel or visihé parents come. It is no secret that we are
having huge control, honesty and progress issubshis office. We cannot authorize any
family visits at this time, regardless of how greba deal the flight is.”%ee Exhibit O)

30.0n or about April 5, 2007, Defendants said thay theuld travel to Guatemala City
themselves but would not send any photos of Obeeause some had been sent out
recently. The Plaintiffs responded with a lettext tiold the Defendants how disappointed
they were that the Agency wasn’t even sure wheie slon, Oliver was living and for all of
the other lies and misrepresentations the Defeadaat sentSee Exhibit P)

31.0n or about April 9, 2007, the Plaintiff questiortd Defendants why they couldn’t

travel to visit Oliver when other families wereveting to Guatemala to visit their children
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as evidenced by the DVD obtained from AP’s recesit.\Defendants responded that
“They have different offices and have made othemgements.”$ee Exhibit Q)

32.0n or about April 10, 2007, in an attempt to intlate and silence the Plaintiffs, the
Defendants sent a letter to the Plaintiffs advisiag ‘the office”had not intention of
cooperating with the Defendants and assisting eathpleting the adoptions. The letter
also stated that Oliver's Grandmother was askin@fiver back which could cause an
investigation by the authorities. It also stateat tthe office” was angry at the Plaintiffs
and insisting on an apology letter. Finally, thitelesaid Right now, it would really be
best if Oliver just laid low and we pray for a fastcompletion to this case............ there
are several other cases at risk, not just yours(See Exhibit R)

33.0n or about May 15, 2007, when the Plaintiffs oagain begged for an update on
their case, the Defendants sent a flippant respgdise’t you hire Manfred to manage
your case? He would be checking on it | assumgSee Exhibit S)

34.0n or about June 17, 2007, Defendants sent anlg¢enthe Plaintiffs. Among many
other fabrications, the Defendants attempted tmidate the Plaintiffs by telling them “
will remind you again, if you send any funds to angne other than Adoption Partners,
we will NOT be responsible for your case being contgted and your child being able
to come home.” (See Exhibit T)

35.0n or about June 20, 2007, the Defendant JM tetegghthe Plaintiffs demanding
the final payment for the adoption. According te dontract this payment was due when
the case came out of PGN but no one from Deferaritad notified Plaintiffs that the
case had been approved and out of PGN. Defendaetsent an additional email

demanding payment at approximately 11:13 &we(Exhibit U)
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36. When the first e-mail did not elicit the resporise Defendants were seeking,
another email was sent at 1:15pm. In a bold attéongbireaten, extort and intimidate, the
Defendants sent an email threatening to createvastigation into the adoption that would
delay the completion of the adoption unless paymastmade immediatelySée Exhibit
V)

37. Plaintiffs received several emails from Defendaniggesting that they pay bribes to
help complete their adoption. Plaintiffs did nottgpate in the suggested activitiage
Exhibit W)

38. Plaintiffs finally completed their adoption and bght Oliver home on July 18, 2007
but not without spending thousands of dollars ¢tlweramount contracted, hiring AS and
months of stress and sleepless nights.

39. Plaintiffs were induced into an adoption where Bledendants involvement
almost prevented the completion of the adoptiore Dbefendants repeatedly provided
false information and their unethical behaviorklat monitoring and misrepresentations
delayed the adoption. Plaintiffs have been daméigedcially and emotionally by the

Defendants illegal activities.

Plaintiffs Brian and Jennifer Stuckert

40. Brian and Jennifer Stuckert (“Plaintiffs”) contatt@efendants in June 2006 to
discuss adopting a baby from Guatemala. Once #ietiffs had decided to use the
Defendants adoption services after being reassyréteir website advertising, they began

working on preparing their dossier.
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41.0n or about October 19, 2006, Defendants emaileidt?ls the “10 Steps to Your
Adoption” which estimated the adoption should beplete in 26 weeks or less. This
correspondence clearly statd®l¢ase be assured that we are monitoring each casea
daily basis. We are constantly in constantly in cdact with the attorney to be sure
that they are following up on your case.(See Exhibit X)

42.0n or about November 6, 2006, Defendant JM wertveeP of Attorney to the
Plaintiffs and had already filled in the name ofdMiel de Jesus Sapon” who the Plaintiffs
had been matched with for their adoption. Defendihassured the Plaintiffs that she had
spoken to the attorney who was caring for the b8hg. said .“The other good thing
about all of this is that the BM (birth mother) hasnot changed her mind and will not
change her mind so that is not anything that you Wlihave to worry about. |
confirmed that the atty has all the documents andsiready to rush to get the DNA
authorization from the Embassy so we could even hawhat by the end of the next
week if we hussle (sic)...(See Exhibit Y)

43.0n or about November 11, 2006, the Plaintiffs semtDefendants $12,000.00 for
the first fees to begin the adoption of baby Manuel

44.0n or about January 7, 2007, the Plaintiffs askef@mlants where the case stood as
far as the first required DNA steps. The Defendeggponded with a promise that they
would have the DNA authorization that weekeé Exhibit Z)

45.0n or about January 23, 2007, Defendants advigeBIthntiffs that they finally had

received DNA authorizationSee Exhibit AA)

10
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46.0n or about February 28, 2007, Defendants advikedtiffs that they had sent a
bribe to the Guatemalan social worker in the farodyrt to perform the interviews with
the BM. See Exhibit BB)

47.As the case continued to drag on, the Plaintiffginaed to ask for updates from the
Defendants. On or about April 24, 2007, the Pgfinally received notice that the
adoption had received Pre-approval status whicHdallow the case to move on to
Family Court then to PGNSge Exhibit CC)

48.0n or about July 5, 2007, Defendants assured Hietifs that they are still
“working on getting the case out of Family Courtlamo the PGN.” $ee Exhibit DD)

49.0n or about August 3, 2007, the Plaintiffs finathgeived notice that their adoption

had entered PGN. Defendant JM st&iafe will push push push to get it approved fast

50. On or about August 30, 2007, Defendants sent thiatils an email advising that
their adoption case should soon go the secondweri@nd that it should be out soon.
Defendant JM mentions that they hdseguy in the PGN that can make it in one week
but he costs $3,000 to useDefendants went on to remind the Plaintiffs whersend
their final fees. $ee Exhibit FF)

51.0n or about September 26, 2007, Defendants adtnisdélaintiffs that the case was
now stuck on the second reviewer’s desk in Guagemaain Defendant JM mentioned
that they had a PGN contact that charges $3,006ttthe case signed in a few weekeg
Exhibit GG)

52.0n or about October 18, 2007, Plaintiffs asketeltneeded to update their

Homestudy (“HS”) because they were told by thetalagency that their HS was one year

11
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old and should be updated. Defendants respondedbtld just ignore ABC and their
homestudy stuff.”$ee Exhibit HH)

53. Plaintiffs were planning to travel to see theiryadanuel in late October 2006 and
had made flight arrangements and arrangementsawég from their jobs.

54.0n or about October 23, 2007, Defendants sentlénatifs an email titled “I need
to talk with you/serious problem.” In the body bétmessage, Defendants claimed that the
birth mother (“BM”) had been called in for an intew but the BM said her baby had died
and she was arrested by the investigators. Deféendamned the Plaintiffs not to travel
because it looked like the adoption had a 50/5@a@haf being cancelledSée Exhibit 11)

55.On or about October 24, 2007, the Defendants dettea to the Plaintiffs to be
notarized and to be sent to Guatemala City. Defenthd admitted in the email that she
had “.. tried at least 9 times to replicate your signatise | could just sign it here for you
but they are too detailed and | could not get iitkok close enough (sorry!)(See Exhibit
JJ)

56. Later the same day the Plaintiffs sent a list @sfjons to the Defendants to clarify
the shocking news sent to them the day before PTdugtiffs were trying to sort out the
various inconsistencies in the stories that theededints had sent them. The Plaintiffs
wanted to know why they couldn’t travel to see bilanuel. Gee Exhibit KK)

57.0n or about October 30, 2007, Defendants senttfisitne news that they had
hired a Guatemalan attorney to determine the stédtileir adoption. After explaining that
the BM had come back and wanted to reclaim hed.chhie Defendants end the message

with the statemerit am so sorry to say that we will not be able to amplete this

12
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adoption of Manuel for your family. | am so very sory. We can discuss some options
for a new adoption plan or what you might be thinkng to do....."(See Exhibit LL)

58. On or about November 1, 2007, the Plaintiffs resgigoiito the Defendants stating
“please send us an e-mail outlining all of our optins, in and out of Guatemala, along
with your advice and recommendationsWe are going through some grief here and
would like to be able to read through things rathiéran try to follow along in a phone
call. We would then call within the next few daystlvquestions when we can pull
ourselves together.Plaintiffs were clearly grieving the loss of theream of bringing their
son home and could not quickly just “switch” to Hrey child (as suggested by Defendants)
as if it were a vehicle purchas&eg Exhibit MM)

59. The stress and grief of losing the adoption of Mdwaused the Plaintiffs to become
physically ill. (See Exhibit NN)

60. On or about November 5, 2007, Defendants respaiadixe Plaintiffs that they
would have to work to obtain a new referral for Riaintiffs but that they would help
subsidize the costs if the Plaintiffs wanted totstanew adoption in Guatemala and they
would have a referral by the end of the week. Dideats also offered to start an adoption
for the Plaintiffs in Ethiopia and that a case ddug started immediately5ée Exhibit
00)

61. The Plaintiffs responded with some additional qoestfor the Defendants
including a copy of the written report of the Gurasan attorney on the failed adoption of
Manuel. Defendants responded by sending the feesmf&thiopian adoption and by telling

the Plaintiffs that there was no written reportirthe attorney.§ee Exhibit PP)

13
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62. After careful thought about the situation, on Nobem19, 2007, the Plaintiffs wrote
the Defendants that they had lost confidence iptbeess and that they wanted a refund of
their fees paid.

63. The Defendants responded that there would be nadeind refunds were not
allowed according to the contract. The Defendaat® ghe Plaintiffs 5 days to decide
whether they wanted to continue in another adomrdheir file would be closedSée
Exhibit QQ)

64. On or about December 5, 2007, Plaintiffs askedrfore information both about the
Ethiopian adoptions and where baby Manuel wasdoc@efendants responded that they
had encountered some boys in Guatemala that tlveyedethese children weren't right for
the Plaintiff. Defendant JM wrote “There will bense out of pocket expenses to start a
new case in Guatemala and | will have to worktiashake the arrangements but we can
do that. OR we can wait for a cute, healthy babgnfEthiopia to come to us....5¢e
Exhibit RR)

65.On or about December 9, 2007, Defendant JM wratéthintiffs offering Baby
Boy David who was “available at a reduced fee”irRiffs decided not to continue any
adoptions with the Defendants having no confidehaethey could complete an adoption.
(See Exhibit SS)

66. Plaintiffs did not complete any adoption with thef@nhdants and although nothing
had been done by the Defendants according toateeartising or the contract, the
Defendants have refused to refund the money.

67. Plaintiffs were induced into an adoption where Bfregendants failed to complete

the adoption. The Defendants repeatedly providisg faformation and their unethical

14
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behavior, lack of monitoring and misrepresentatidelayed the adoption. Plaintiffs

have been damaged financially and emotionally eyDOkfendants illegal activities.

Plaintiffs Donald and Melody Bosley

68. Donald and Melody Bosley (“Plaintiffs”) contactdeetDefendants on or about
February 2007 to inquire about adopting a girl fi@oatemala. The Plaintiffs were not
asking about a specific child but asking aboutarajlable toddler girls around the age of
three.

69. During the first telephone conversation with Defamd]M, the Plaintiffs were told
about a young boy whose adoption had been disraptgdvould be ready to adopt very
quickly because the DNA tests had already been latetp Defendant JM statéde
should be home by June or July.”

70.0n or about March 2, 2007, Defendant JM offeredPlantiffs a young boy, Carlos
Daniel Macz for a referral. This is the boy thag slad previously mentioned to the
Plaintiffs as being available from a disrupted diop She offers the adoption at a reduced
rate of $18,000.00Sge Exhibit TT)

71.0n or about March 12, 2007, Defendant JM confirthed the Plaintiffs had been
matched with Carlos. The Plaintiffs were not papady.

72.0n or about May 10, 2007, Defendants state thgtaheetrying to get Carlos home
for the Plaintiffs by ChristmasSée Exhibit UU)

73.0n or about June 5, 2007, Defendants had the iH&sign a Power of Attorney for
Guatemalan Attorney “Maria Del Rosario Cordero Raaii This was the attorney who

was to manage the adoption in Guatemala allowiadpthintiffs to adopt Carlos.

15
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74.0n or about June 12, 2007, the Plaintiffs requedtedmentation from the
Defendants of the background of Carlos.

75.0n or about June 13, 2007, the Plaintiffs compléted dossier and sent the same
to the Defendants.

76.0n July 3, 2007, the Plaintiffs faxed Defendanttbiir 171-H approval from the
U.S. Department of Homeland Security. DefendanediMails that they can finally start
the adoption. The Plaintiffs make a second redoestocumentation of the background of
Carlos.

77.0n July 5-7, 2007, Plaintiff Melody visits with G@s for 3 days in Guatemala City.

78.0n or about July 19, 2007, Defendants wrote td’taentiffs saying We are
working to get the file to the Embassy so they cachange the Petitioner name to you
from the previous family.” Defendants indicated that the case had been sebdrntatPGN.

79.0n or about July 20, 2007, Defendants wrote thimtifa to tell them that they
were trying to locate the BM of Carlos at the Ensyagquest.ee Exhibit VV)

80. Upon the request of the Plaintiffs, Defendants aeddcument with the 10 steps to
Adoption. In this document it shows that thererthbinother is required to be interviewed
in Family Court and to sign the final documente@RGN approves the adoptioSege
Exhibit WW )

81.0n or about July 31, 2007, Plaintiffs make a thaguest for information about the
background of Carlos. Defendant JM respondétht is the least of our problems right
now as of today. We are having a very difficult tine locating the birth mother to come

in to get some new pictures of her for the Embassy.”.Defendant JM was suggesting
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that photos of the BM was all that would be neddetbmplete the adoption of Carlos.
(See Exhibit XX)

82.0n or about August 13, 2007, Defendants advise@lduatiffs that they could not
find the BM. Gee Exhibit YY)

83.0n or about August 30, 2007, Congressman Mike Tisompacting on behalf of
the Plaintiffs reported back that the Guatemalai&3ssy had no record of the Bosleys or
of little Carlos. If Carlos was truly a disruptedb@tion then his name should have been on
file at the Embassy.

84.0n or about September 6, 2007, after multiple eexasid vague answers from the
Defendants, the Plaintiffs demand to see some dectary proofs that their adoption had
been submitted to Family Couirt.

85.In an attempt to blame the parents for the missgmtations about the adoption,
Defendant JM responded via email witks“you will recall, | sent you a detailed email a
few months back explaining that this case might ndie able to go forward. | told you
at that time that you should seriously consider chaging your adoption plans for
Carlos. You clearly stated that you wanted to waiit out. So now you have to wait it
out.....I am all but ready to simply cancel the casas this picture fiasco is most likely
not going to work out.”

86.0n or about September 12, 2007, the Plaintiffsiooef that Maria Del Rosario
Cordero Ramirez was not the attorney on their case.

87.0n or about September 26, 2007, the Plaintiffsivedea long e-mail from the

Defendants that listed several options that thelydaacerning the adoption of Carlos.

17


http://www.courthousenews.com

Wwww.courthousenews.conj

Defendant JM clearly was not happy that the Pf&rtiad uncovered the lies she had told
them surrounding their adoptioikde Exhibit ZZ)

88.0n or about October 1, 2007, Plaintiffs hired AdapSupervisors Group (“ASG”)
to help them sort out and complete their adoptidDaslos. Hiring ASG cost the Plaintiffs
an additional $3000.00.

89. On or about October 8, 2007, ASG sent the firsbntepat there were no records of
their adoption at Family Court, PGN or the Supr&vart of Guatemala. There was no
record of the Power of Attorney or any submissmarty Guatemalan officeSée Exhibit
AAA)

90. On or about October 25, 2007, the Plaintiffs haqativate investigator to find the
BM at an additional $2,000.00.

91. After over a month with no communication from thef@ndants they finally
contacted the Plaintiffs. On or about October 2®,72 the Defendants sent an email to the
Plaintiffs telling them that if they chose to conte the adoption they would no longer be
responsible and the Plaintiffs must sign a releasesponsibility. Defendants threatened in
the email 1f you chose not to sign the Release of Responsitlyil we will remove Carlos
from his current living situation and have no choie but to turn him over to the
Guatemalan Government Children Services for care. fthat point, he will not be
available for adoption to your family.” (See Exhibit BBB)

92. Plaintiffs under great duress and fear for theair Garlos’ safety, signed the Release
of Responsibility. The adoption has taken over 20itims when they had been promised by
Defendants that it would only take 4-5 months aadds is still not home with his parents.

Plaintiffs have spent over $37,000 while Carld$istin an orphanage in Guatemala.
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93. Plaintiffs were induced into an adoption whereBregdendants did absolutely
nothing to even begin the adoption. The Defendaaeatedly provided false
information and their unethical behavior, lack afmtoring and misrepresentations
delayed the adoption. Plaintiffs have been daméigadcially and emotionally by the

Defendants illegal activities.

Plaintiffs Kelly Gilmore and Donysia Green-Gilmore

94. Plaintiffs Kelly Gilmore and Donysia Green-Gilmdiflaintiffs) applied for an
adoption with Defendants and completed their dossithe summer of 2006. The
Plaintiffs were referred and matched with baby “Bi@ias Abraham Lopez Gomez”
who was born on July 22, 2006. The Plaintiffs giledemais the name of Jacob.

95. The Defendants had promised monthly pictures, @dew monthly medical
updates throughout the adoption process.

96.0n or about October 18, 2006, the Defendants ad¥ise Plaintiffs that their
adoption case had entered PG8kd Exhibit CCC)

97.During November 2007, Plaintiffs visited with Jaaoid noticed that his breathing
seemed labored. In December 2007, the Plaintiffgsested the Defendants get a full
physical of the baby but received an email told Befendants “were closed for the
season.” The next medical visit for the baby tolalc@ after the Defendant’s holiday
closure.

98.In January 2007, Plaintiffs hired AS to help detiearthe status of the adoption due
to the many inconsistent stories they had recdreoed the Defendants. AS reported back

on January 9, 2007, that their case had not en&ddlas promised by Defendants in
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October 2006, January 8 & 9, 2006. Instead it lemhisent to Family court on November
30, 2006.

99.By January 2007, after several requests for updaie$laintiffs called PGN to
obtain the PGN registry number for Nehemias’ adoptihe PGN officials told the
Plaintiffs that they could not find record of tlaidoption. When the Plaintiffs questioned
the Defendants about the PGN number they wereasemte, condescending, and spiteful
e-mail from Defendant JM reminding the Plaintiffsatl of the things the Defendants had
done in their caseSge Exhibit DDD)

100. On January 26, 2007, Plaintiffs confronted Defethd&hto ask if she was
working with a facilitator named Theo or Thanasuli@s who had been banned by the
United States Embassy from doing adoptions.

101. On January 29, 2007, in retaliation for the questioeing asked, Defendants
sent Plaintiffs a letter stating that the BM intew didn’t take place, that the Defendants
couldn’t complete the case but offered to starttm@raadoption immediately. Defendants
demanded a response by February 1, 200days later.(See Exhibit EEE)

102. On or around February 18, 2007, the Plaintiffs é&fendants that they
would like to visit Jacob in March and asked faxa@mendations on travel dates.
Defendants responded that they were not allowinglie@s to travel due to safety issues.
(See Exhibit FFF)

103. The Plaintiffs asked the Defendants to confirm thatPGN process took
approximately 12 weeks, to which the Defendantke@pRight now they are
completing cases in about 8 weeks and we are getfimany out much faster than

that....” (See Exhibit GGG)
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104. In March 2007, Plaintiffs asked for a medical updat Jacob. Defendants
scanned and sent a copy of a report from Januatrg#id ‘as you can see your child is
healthy and thriving.”

105. On March 21, 2007, Defendants sent an email tethedlaintiffs that if
they didn’t have a new medical report from Dr. Ravby Monday, they were free to follow
up on their own. Even though the agency had chaBddiD0 to facilitate the adoption, they
were directing the Plaintiffs to do their own meditollow up. Defendants were apparently
resentful that so many parents were asking fortegdesee Exhibit HHH)

106. On or about April 14, 2007, the Defendants senPlatiffs an email
admitting that they had no idea where Jacob wtsaatime. The Defendants hadn’t seen
him in months and even confirmed with the Doctat the child hadn’t been in for medical
appointments. The Defendants admitted that theldonticonfirm that the child was with
the same foster mother or had been moved. Defedi¥aaven eluded that the Plaintiffs
had made other arrangements and had moved the (Sekl Exhibit 1)

107. Two weeks later, the Defendants wrote an emaliédRiaintiffs that she
was not accepting all of the excuses the Guatenudfee had given for not having
Jacob available. Again Defendant JM used the oppiytto chastise the Plaintiffs for
being too involved with the adoptiorsde Exhibit JJJ)

108. Upon information and belief the Defendants hadsaglieement with their
Guatemalan adoption facilitator “Theo” and could abtain additional information

about Jacob for the Plaintiffs.
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109. On or about May 7, 2007, the Plaintiffs worked wiitle Guatemalan
facilitator and completed their adoption of Jaddobfendants did virtually nothing at all
according to the contract even after the Plaintifid paid them $14,000.00.

110. The Plaintiffs paid AS an additional $5,000.00italfout the actual status
of their adoption because of the lies and misrepnadions of the Defendants. The
Plaintiffs paid additional fees in trips to Guatéan try to sort out the adoption mess
that Defendants had made.

111. The Plaintiffs brought Jacob home and 3 days thebaby turned blue
and was rushed to the hospital where they fountbldea heart condition named
Ventricular Septal Defect (“VSD”). The baby wasweeak he could hardly breathe.
Jacob had to undergo open heart surgery but wgsclesse to not being healthy enough
for the surgery.

112. Defendants had a duty to have a full competent caédixam done of
Jacob throughout the adoption process. The negleggehthe Defendants almost took
the life of Jacob.

113. The Plaintiffs were induced into an adoption tHatast never took place
due to the incompetence’s of the Defendants. Ffisintere induced into an adoption
that Defendants never intended to complete thr@eflendants assurances, unethical
behavior, lack of monitoring and misrepresentatiéhaintiffs have been damaged
financially and emotionally by the Defendants iégctivities.

Plaintiff Debbie Beaty

114. On or about July 23, 2006, Plaintiff Debbie BedBidintiff") received a

referral from Defendants for a little girl, Andreapez Perez. Defendant JM told the
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Plaintiff she had 24 hours to decide if she wantelde matched with this beautiful little
girl or she would lose the referrabde Exhibit KKK)

115. On or about July 24, 2006, Plaintiff accepted #fenral of Andrea.

116. From August 10, 2006 — August 29, 2006, Plainténivto visit baby
Andrea. During that visit the baby needed to sdector. The baby had an eye infection
that appeared to be present at birth and had reot &ddressed. Now, over one month
later, the baby still had the eye infection anddbetor prescribed eye drops for 10 (ten)
days. The first day Plaintiff was in Guatemala &uithe baby, the child would cry for
hours. The doctor put the baby on special formulato severe stomach pains from
lactose intolerance.

117. In a telephone call from Defendant JM, the Defenddhyelled at the
Plaintiff for taking the baby to the doctor and ebeng the formula. Although Defendant
JM claimed that she was available to assist irettemt of any problems, instead she
made it more difficult for the Plaintiff. Plaintiffaid all physician costs each time the
children went to the doctors.

118. Upon the pick up trip the foster mother didn’t cotaehe hotel, instead a
strange man showed up to retrieve the baby. Pliaietused to turn the baby over to a
stranger but in a telephone call to Defendant & Rlaintiff was told to hand the baby
over to the stranger with no explanation from Deferts.

1109. On or about September 1, 2006, Plaintiff inquirbdwt adopting a second
child from Guatemala through the Defendants. Theygewmmediately given a referral
of Anthony Calan Hernandez. The Plaintiff acceptexlreferral and signed the Power of

Attorney to begin the adoption process of Anthoftye Plaintiff asked if one of the
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children could be moved so they were in the sammtefdiome. Plaintiff figured that this
would make the transition easier on the childremnduthe pickup trip. Defendants
assured Plaintiff that Andrea would be moved tohnty’s foster home by thend of

the week(See Exhibit LLL)

120. On or about October 2, 2006, Plaintiff was toldtly Defendants that
their adoption had received pre-approval and wésrieig PGN within a week.

121. On November 3 — 15, 2006, Plaintiff traveled to téuaala to visit the
children. When Plaintiff arrived at the hotel, Aatty’s foster mother came with
Anthony and Andrea was not there. Plaintiff askdure Andrea was and was told that
her foster mother was stuck in traffic. Since Seyiiter, Plaintiff had been told that the
children were bonding at the same home and desgvieral assurances that Andrea was
living at the same foster home as Anthony, it wasne.

122. Plaintiff took the children to the doctor while slas in Guatemala the
second time. Andrea was still fighting the sameiafection. Plaintiff had left
medication for the foster mother to administer twlfea, and apparently it hadn’'t been
done. Andrea was also severely anemic. Anthonychaehic intestinal worms that the
physician informed Plaintiff he had for at least fhast six (6) months, and was also
severely anemic. Anthony had spots under his skiclwwere the result of bugs
burrowing under the skin from deplorable living ddions. Despite several
conversations as to the health of the childrennffiawas reassured that the children
were in perfect health. Defendant JIM informed Riéfithat her staff would be able to
assist in taking the children to the doctors whecessary. Plaintiff decided to take the

children herself, yet contacted the Defendantstsdiin Guatemala several times to
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discuss these medical issues, and received an anwy from Defendant JM berating
her for disturbing her staff. Plaintiff left medteans and instructions with the foster
mothers to treat the children.

123. On or about November 28, 2006, Defendant JM todahi#tff that both
cases had been through Family Court interviewstlagg were waiting for the judge to
sign off on the adoption so Anthony’s adoption cbgb to PGN. Plaintiff inquired
about whether anyone had followed up on Anthomytestinal worms. Defendant JM
assured her that she would check and let the Ff&nbw how he was doing.

124. On or about December 1, 2006, Defendant JM tolah#fiathat Anthony
had been to the doctor and his worms were all eteap. Plaintiff asked for a doctor’s
slip stating the same but never received one. Dialeis told Plaintiff that Anthony’s
adoption had entered PGN.

125. On or about January 2, 2007, Plaintiff asked foupdate on Andrea’s
adoption since it had been almost three (3) maositice it had entered PGN. Plaintiff
asked for a PGN number and was told by Defendanhditishe (Plaintiff) didn’'t need it
and would not get it. On or about January 3, 260&intiff hired Adoption Supervisors
who checked the status of the adoptions at PGhhtPlavas told that the adoptions had
never entered PGN. Plaintiff spent an additiona288.00 to hire Adoption Supervisors.
(See Exhibit MMM)

126. On or about January 4, 2007, Plaintiff emaileduh®. Embassy to
determine whether both Pre-approval/consents hanl issued for the children. Plaintiff

also emailed Defendant JM requesting the Pre-Agnoymber for both children.
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Again she was told thashe didn’t have any need for the number. The consenfor
both cases are long done and the files are in PGKSee Exhibit NNN)

127. On or about January 5, 2007, Plaintiff had a Spasieaking friend call
PGN to determine whether the cases were in PGMdutcords were found. When the
Plaintiff again requested the PGN number from tleéebdants she was told that the
assistant had checked on their cases the day kaidrboth adoptions were in PGN.
(See Exhibit OO0)

128. Again the Plaintiff requested PGN numbers as sheagaured by the
PGN submission office that they would assist hdéranking down the cases if they had
been submitted. Plaintiff related all of this infaation to Defendant JM.

129. On January 8, 2007, Defendant JM wrote to the Bfiia tell her that she
“doubts that the Plaintiff spoke to someone in PGNen Defendant JM advised that
her contact inside of PGN told her that the filex@vsoon to be kicked out with previos.
(See Exhibit PPP)

130. On January 9, 2007, Defendant JM once again adtheeRIaintiff that
both cases are in PGN and that she has no intsmaiogiving the Plaintiff the PGN case
numbers. The Embassy sent an email to the Plagtéfing that Andrea’s pre-approval
was issued on October 2, 2006 and picked up onb@cthy 2006. Anthony’s pre-
approval was issued on December 1, 2006 but hagendieen picked upSée Exhibit
QQQ)

131. After several days of questioning Defendant JM Howhony's case
could have entered PGN without proof of pre-appkastze finally responded to the

Plaintiff on January 17, 2007. Defendant JM stdlted she had been given the wrong
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information from the office” and that she was working to correct it. Defendduht
finally admitted that the Pre-approval/consentAathony had not even been picked up.
(See Exhibit RRR)

132. On or about January 23, 2007, Defendant JM advise@laintiff that the
cases had not entered PGN but should by JanuaB080@, if not sooner.Sge Exhibit
SSS)

133. For the next few days, the Plaintiff emailed Def@amd to get a status
update on Family Court and the adoptions. Defendlsihpromised updates but none
were given. On January 30, 2007, Plaintiff receigademail from Adoption Supervisors
advising her that her files had not entered intmiiaCourt anywhere in Guatemala
City.

134. Plaintiff once again asked Defendant JM for an axation and was told
to contact the Defendant’s attorney herself. Ded@tdM provided an e-mail address
and telephone number for the attorney. When Pfacdlled the number — it was non-
existent and there was no response from the ehdieas provided.

135. On or about February 1, 2007, Adoption Supervisdrssed Plaintiff that
the file had just entered Family Court. The Pl&ittad to advise Defendant JM of this.
Defendant JM promised both files would definiteyih PGN as of that date, but in
reality the cases had just entered Family Court.

136. On or about February 3, 2007, Defendant JM wroanEff that the
Defendants paid $1000 to get the Director’s sidronfthe adoptions. Defendant JM

wrote ‘It costs $1000 and we do it all the time..(See Exhibit TTT)
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137. On or about February 8, 2007, Adoption Supervigast to Family Court
to get a status update but they were told thab#fendants had told the Family Court
not to release any information to Adoption SupergsPlaintiff wrote to the Defendants
and demanded information if they (Defendants) vgerieg to block all other means of
getting information on the cases.

138. On or about February 14, 2007, Defendant JM wrtaa#Tf to tell her
that the Family Court social worker was upset wittoption Supervisors and is
“refusing” to work on their case. Plaintiff remirdi®efendants that if they had been
doing their job correctly, the Plaintiff wouldn'akie had to hire Adoption Supervisors
and spend an additional $5,200.00.

1309. Defendant JM responded by telling the Plaintifftttee social worker was
refusing to work on the case. Defendant JM als@ dlag Plaintiff a thinly veiled threat
by stating T will not be surprised if the birthmothers suddenly show up and change
their minds, and there will not be adamn thing we can do about iCall Adoption
Supervisors and tell them they have effectively emdl your case.”(See Exhibit UUU)

140. On February 19, 2007, Defendant JM advised thaFémeily Court Social
Worker will not work on the case until Plaintiff @émer husband have a psychological
evaluation from a Licensed Mental Health Counselor.

141. On February 24, 2007, Defendant JM wrote Plaiatfin stating that the
Family Court was still demanding a psychologicallaation. The reasoning given by
Defendant JM wasthe feeling being if you cannot handle a well docuemted delay
in your adoption case, then how prepared are you tbhandle an unexpected medical

condition, a reading disability, a delay in speechr simply a child that does not
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behave.” Defendant JM demanded to speak personally to ttialseorker who
completes the report before the exam beg®se Exhibit VVV)

142. On or about March 10, 2007, Defendants sent meckpalrts on both
children to the Plaintiff. This medical report wasluplicate of the report sent in January
2007 (which was a medical report from November 2006

143. Even after the Plaintiff and her husband parti@danh the agency directed
counseling (which is illegal and improper for Dedants to order). Defendant JM
berated the Plaintiff on the counseling report thas written by a licensed social
worker. In another attempt to intimidate and malaf®) Defendant JM harassed the
Plaintiff. (See Exhibit WWW)

144, On or about March 30, 2007, Adoption Supervisorgsad the Plaintiff
that both adoptions have finally entered PGN.

145. On or about April 15, 2007, Plaintiff wrote to Dafiants to request a visit
trip to see the children. Defendants denied thaesty Defendant told Plaintiff thtte
officeis unreliable and may not bring the children faisat if they travel. Defendant JM
advised the Plaintiff that their case is in PGN sl did not have a PGN number.

146. In May 2007, the adoption case is kicked out of R@MNe for previos but
Defendants never advised the Plaintiff of any peotd. All updates Plaintiff received
were from Adoption SupervisorsS€e Exhibit XXX)

147. In June 2007, the adoption case is kicked out dfl RGain with a request
from PGN for a letter stating that the Plaintiffsvaware that the children were not

related. See Exhibit YYY)
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148. On or about June 27, 2007, Plaintiff found out thatpaperwork
requested by PGN had never been received by Dafend@aintiff sent an additional
copy of the paperwork directly to the Guatemalditefcontact who took it directly to
the PGN. The Guatemalan office asked that theylisotose to Defendant JM that they
had the paperwork for 2 weeks and then send hepyaf the paperwork. It was at this
time that the Plaintiff realized that Defendant dfsls no longer working with the
Guatemalan office to complete her adoptions.

149. On or about July 2, 2007, July 5, 2007 and July208,7, Defendant JM
emailed the Plaintiff requesting the second hathefagency fee and the second half of
the attorney'’s fees for both adoptiorfSeé Exhibit ZZZ)

150. On July 17, 2007, Plaintiff requested a visit tcat@umala to visit the
children because the case has just re-entered B&fndant JM responded she was
upset that she had to contact Plaintiff's husb&oded the home, faxed the Plaintiff's
husband’s boss and called the homestudy beforbesdre back from the Plaintiff. As
usual, Defendant JM was requesting money and baiaveuld “check on a visit trip.”
Plaintiff never heard again about the visit triprfr the Defendants. On or about July 20,
2007, Defendant JM emailed the Plaintiff to let keow that she had the letter for PGN
but wanted her payment in fulSée Exhibit AAAA)

151. On or about July 25, 2007, Plaintiff got an emaohfi Adoption
Supervisors that told her that the adoption files width the first reviewer. Later that day,
the Plaintiff received a telephone call frothé office” that the file had exited PGN and
the adoption was approved. Defendants did not cotta Plaintiff to let her know the

adoption had exited PGN.
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152. Defendants made it clear that when they thoughatiogtion would be
completed, even if Plaintiff completed the adoptiorough hiring others to do the work,
that all they were interested in was collecting eni@es. The Defendants wrote, harassed
and threatened to try to get Plaintiff to send fé®ee Exhibit BBBB)

153. On or about July 30, 2007, Defendant JM even wmtke Plaintiff with
implied threats that she would have to contactdN8 to the Plaintiff's HS being expired.
The alternative was to pay her mon&eé Exhibit CCCC)

154, On or about July 29, 2007, both new birth certtesawere issued and on
August 10, 2007, the Plaintiff and her husbandeled to pick up their children.

155. The Plaintiff was induced into an adoption that@dtmever took place
due to the incompetence of the Defendants. Plamés induced into an adoption that
Defendants never intended to complete through [Riafiets assurances, unethical
behavior, lack of monitoring and misrepresentati@efendants attempted to force the
Plaintiff into making decisions through threats amtmidation and even resorted to
forgery as a normal course of business. Plaina#f been damaged financially and

emotionally by the Defendants illegal activities.

DEFENDANT ADOPTION PARNTER'S
SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

156. Defendant AP has engaged in a scheme to defrapdepseeking to become
parents. The Defendant AP conducted this schemeftaud through a system of offering
children to the new parents and demanding a sigjuoedry contract and a wire of

thousands of dollars.
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157. Through this scheme, the Defendant AP gathered yrenme requested
wired payments for additional unspecified fees whiththreat that if these fees aren't paid,
the adoption will cease. Defendants AP and JM ldicbst all of their adoption business
using the telephone, faxes and/or e-mail. Moneywieed to bank accounts using
telephone wires.

158. Throughout the course of the process, the DeferARmngaged in a series
of fraudulent representations designed to indueedmtinued interest and to gain
additional money from the parents.

159. The Defendant AP is willing to engage in such bmgzeriminal activity
given the hyper-sensitive and vulnerable stateeopfe who desperately want to be
parents.

160. Moreover, the Defendant AP faces little to no thadaivil action by the
adoptive parents because of the constant threélae @efendant AP stopping any adoption
that is currently in the system.

161. Once the Defendant AP had obtained the money frenpitospective
parents, the Defendant AP abruptly stopped commatingcand informed the prospective
parents that “they are too impatient” when theytaskmany questions regarding the
adoption process.

162. Upon information and belief, Plaintiffs were victaad by the Defendant
AP’s scheme to defraud to the extent they reliemhipe Defendant AP’s fraudulent
“factual” representations regarding the adoptibi) mother or family returning for
children, status of dossier, the AP attorneys aramuntry coordinators involved in the

adoptions and the status of the adoptions.
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163. Defendant AP began its scheme to defraud to tlenettiat they began
presenting false information to the Plaintiffs @nel AP clients. Plaintiffs succumbed to the
Defendant AP’s scheme to defraud and to the eRtanttiffs relied on the Defendant AP’s
fraudulent representations that these adoptionddvake place. The Defendant AP has
refused to return money and personal property antintie to use these for its own
illegitimate benefit. To this day, Plaintiffs dorue to be so victimized by the Defendant
AP’s scheme to defraucbee supr§§ 11 —155.

164. Upon information and belief, Plaintiffs allege tlo#ther unknown
prospective parents have sustained and contirgiestain similar injuries by reason of the

Defendant AP’s scheme to defraud.

DEFENDANTS’ AP AND JOANNE AND TODD MITCHELL'S SCHEM ES TO
SOLICIT BRIBES, EXTORT, AND DEFRAUD

165. Defendants AP, and Joanne and Todd Mitchells hagaged in schemes to
solicit bribes and extort money and property frawspective parents seeking to adopt
children from Guatemala. Defendants AP, andd@amnd Todd Mitchell have conducted
their scheme of bribe solicitation and extortiorotlgh enterprises consisting of their
corporate entity and/or an association-in-factrpnige consisting of the Corporate
Defendant AP.

166. Through their patterns of bribe solicitation antbetion, Defendants’ AP,
and Joanne and Todd Mitchell seek to wrongfullyaobimoney from prospective parents

who are desperately hoping to adopt a child.
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167. Plaintiffs were victimized by the schemes of bislécitation and extortion
of Defendants’ AP, and Joanne and Todd Mitchdhat, Defendants’ AP, and Joanne and
Todd Mitchell caused the Plaintiffs to send mor@yadoptions that have not been
completed, may not ever be completed or adoptlutsiere already completed and the
money was sent due to the fear of Defendants’ A® Jaanne and Todd Mitchell
preventing its completion.

168. Defendants’ AP, and Joanne and Todd Mitchell reqgksthemes to defraud
caused Plaintiffs to incur substantial expensesymg a dream of being parents that would
never come to fruition unless Plaintiffs succumtzethe patterns of bribe solicitation,
extortion or fraud.

169. Upon information and belief, Plaintiffs allege tlo#iher unknown
prospective parents have sustained and contiraiestain similar injuries by reason of
Defendants’ AP, and Joanne and Todd Mitchell sckeshbribe solicitation, extortion and
mail/wire fraud.

ACTS VIOLATING THE MAIL AND WIRE FRAUD STATUTES
18 U.S.C. 88 1341, 1343

170. Pursuant to the events described in paragraph$34, suprg the
Defendants AP, and Joanne and Todd Mitchell knowidgvised or knowingly
participated in the schemes or artifices to defikaehtiffs or to obtain the money or
property of Plaintiffs by means of false or frawghlpretenses, representations, or
promises.

171. Pursuant to the events described in paragraph$34, suprg the

Defendants AP, and Joanne and Todd Mitchell caureksee that the mails would be used
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“for the purpose of” advancing, furthering, exengticoncealing, conducting, participating
in or carrying out the schemes, within the meawning8 U.S.C. 88 1341 and 1343. In
particular, Defendants could foresee that the maolsld be used to receive and/or deliver,
inter alia, money and false or fraudulent representatiorerdagy the adoptions,
facilitators and the agreement among the partiesstatus of ongoing adoptions and the
remedies for problems with adoptions. Defendantsakid Joanne and Todd Mitchell
continued possession of Plaintiffs money and pgiuabrmation; gained through
Defendants AP, and Joanne and Todd Mitchell bobeittion and extortionist demands.

172. Defendants AP, and Joanne and Todd Mitchell asiimgly and in concert,
personally or through their agents, as co-conspsabr as aiders and abettors, used the
mails or caused the mails to be used “for the me@d” advancing, furthering, executing,
concealing, conducting, participating in, or cargyput the schemes, within the meaning of
18 U.S.C. 88 1341 and 1343.

173. In advancing, furthering, executing, concealingydrecting, participating in,
or carrying out the schemes, the Defendants APJaadne and Todd Mitchell specifically
used the wires/ mails or caused the wires/maiteetosed to receive or deliverter alia,
every email, facsimile, letter or telecommunicati@scribed in paragraphs 11 —1&&pra

174. In advancing, furthering, executing, concealinghdrecting, participating in,
or carrying out the schemes, the Defendants APJaadne and Todd Mitchell also
specifically used the wires/mails or caused thesimails to be used to receive or deliver,
inter alia, the emails, facsimiles, letters or telecommurocatwith the Plaintiffs regarding

all adoption matters.
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175. Each and every use of the mails and wires descabede was committed
by the Defendants AP, and Joanne and Todd Mitahillthe specific intent to defraud
Plaintiffs or for obtaining the money or properfyRiaintiffs by means of false or
fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises.

176. Defendants’ acts of mail and wire fraud are inafioin of 18 U.S.C. 88§

1341 and 1343 and constitute racketeering actagtgtefined by 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1)(B).

COUNT ONE

RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS ACT
18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)

(Defendant AP)
177. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 176 assifated herein.
178. At all relevant times, some or all of the followimglividuals constituted an

“enterprise,” within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. 8%1@) and 1962(c), in that they were “a
group of individuals associated in fact”. Adopti@artners, Inc., Joanne and Todd
Mitchell.
@ Adoption Partners, Inc.., (the “AP”) is indivialy a
“person,” within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. 88 19§ HBd
1962(c), who associated with and/or participatetthén
conduct of said enterprise’s affairs.
(b) From at least May 2006 and continuing throughgresent,
the Defendant AP, personally or through their agent
agents, conducted, participated in, engaged irspiead to

engage in, or aided and abetted, the conduct affthies of
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the enterprise through a pattern of racketeeritigityc

within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. 88 1961(1), 1961(5)

and 1962(c). The Defendant AP’s pattern of racketg

activity consisted of:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

a scheme to defraudde suprdf 11 —155) that was
knowingly and intentionally devised by the
Defendant AP to obtain Plaintiffs money or property
by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises; and, for the purpbse
executing such scheme, the Defendants placed or
caused to be placed in a post office, or authorized
depository for mail, matter that furthered the sche
to defraud (including but not limited to the
communications described in 1911 —155); each
Defendant committed mail fraud, in violation of 18
U.S.C § 1341, each time it used or caused the toails
be used to distribute the materials described in
paragraphs 11 —155 and elsewhere;

a scheme to defraudde suprd[f 11 —155) that was
knowingly and intentionally devised by Defendant
AP to obtain Plaintiffs money or property by means
of false or fraudulent pretenses, representatmns,
promises; and, for the purpose of executing such
scheme, the Defendant AP transmitted or caused to
be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or televisi
communication in interstate or foreign commerce
matter that furthered the scheme to defraud (imatud
but not limited to the communications describe§lfin
11 -155); each Defendant committed wire fraud, in
violation of 18 U.S.C § 1343, each time it used or
caused interstate wires to be used to distribete th
materials described in paragraphs 11 —155 and
elsewhere;

receiving and/or possessing Plaintiffs prdapein
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2315, valued at $5,000 or
more, which crossed a state or international baynda
after the Defendant AP stole, unlawfully converted,
or took Plaintiffs property and which the Defendant
knew was stolen, unlawfully converted, or taken
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(including but not limited to the events described
paragraphs 11 —155 and elsewhere);

(v) transporting, transmitting, or transferringrnterstate
commerce any goods, wares, merchandise of the
value of $5,000 or more, knowing the same to have
been stolen converted or taken by fraud, each and
every time that the Defendant AP caused Plairtbffs
transmit property across state or international
boundaries and each time that the Defendant AP
transmitted Plaintiffs property to third-parties@ss
state or international boundaries as (includingniot
limited to the events described in paragraphs 11 —
155), in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2314.

These acts all occurred after the effective daiIGO and more than two such acts
occurred within ten years of one another.

179. At all relevant times, the enterprise alleged irageaphs 11 —155 was
engaged in, and its activities affected, interstatamerce and foreign commerce.

180. All of the predicate acts described above weragelso as to establish a
pattern of racketeering activity, within the meanaof 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), in that their
common purpose was to defraud Plaintiffs or otimeila prospective adoptive parents of
property or money; their common result was to defrglaintiffs or other similar
prospective adoptive parents of property or motieyDefendant AP, through their agent
or agents, directly or indirectly, participatedalhof the acts and employed the same or
similar methods of commission; Plaintiffs or otlsenilar prospective adoptive parents
were the victims of the fraudulent acts; and/oratis were otherwise interrelated by
distinguishing characteristics and were not isdlaeents.

181. All of the predicate acts described above wereircootis so as to form a

pattern of racketeering activity in that:
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a) The Defendant AP engaged in the predicate astgited
above over a substantial period of time (from astélay
2006 through the present); or
b) The pattern of racketeering activity engagellyithe
Defendant AP continues or threatens to continuauseit
has become a regular way of conducting the DeférRis
on-going business activities.
182. As a direct and result of, and by reason of, thieiaes of the Defendant
AP, and their conduct in violation of 18 U.S.C.18%2(c), Plaintiffs have been injured in
their business or property, within the meaning®ftJ1S.C. § 1964(c). Among other
things, Plaintiffs have suffered damages to thergxthey invested time and resources in
pursing what they thought and were led to beliese avlegitimate international adoption,
to the extent their ability to adopt was delayedhig/Defendant AP’s wrongful actions,
and to the extent their property has been misapjted. Plaintiffs are, therefore,
entitled to recover threefold the damages that lia@e sustained together with the cost of
the suit, including reasonable attorneys' and éxfees.

COUNT TWO

RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS ACT
18 U.S.C. § 1962(d)
(Defendant Adoption Partners, Inc..)
183. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 182 assifated herein.
184. Defendant AP conspired with Defendants Joanne add Mitchell to

conduct or participate, directly or indirectly,thre conduct of the affairs of the enterprise

through a pattern of racketeering activity (as dbed in paragraphs 11 —155) in violation
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of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d). In particular, DefendaRt iatended to further an endeavor of
Joanne and Todd Mitchell which, if completed, wosadisfy all of the elements of a
substantive RICO criminal offense and adopted ta¢ of furthering or facilitating the
criminal endeavor.

185. As a direct and proximate result of, and by readpthe activities of the
Defendant AP, and their conduct in violation ofl&.C. 88 1962(d), Plaintiffs have
been injured in their business or property, withim meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c).
Among other things, Plaintiffs have suffered dansagethe extent they have invested
time and resources in pursing what they thoughtweaslled to believe was a legitimate
international adoption opportunity with DefendarR, Ao the extent their ability to
complete the adoptions were delayed by the DefémsiRals wrongful actions, and to the
extent their property has been misappropriatedintifs are, therefore, entitled to
recover threefold the damages that they have sest&ngether with the cost of the suit,

including reasonable attorneys' and experts' fees.

COUNT THREE

RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS ACT
18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)
(Defendants Joanne and Todd Mitchell
186. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 185 assifated herein.
187. At all relevant times, AP constituted an “enterpfisvithin the meaning of
18 U.S.C. 88 1961(4) and 1962(c), in that it wasr@oration.
@ Joanne and Todd Mitchell are an individual $pas,” within

the meaning of 18 U.S.C. 88 1961(3) and 1962(ch wh
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associated with and/or participated in the condtisaid

enterprise’s affairs.

For an unknown and indefinite period of timgadne and

Todd Mitchell have conducted, participated in, egghin,

conspired to engage in, or aided and abetted oiinduct of

the affairs of the enterprise through a pattemracketeering

activity within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. 88 1961961(5)

and 1962(c). Joanne and Todd Mitchell’'s pattern of

racketeering activity consisted of:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

bribe solicitation $ee suprd{ 37, 50, 51, 136) that was
designed to extract direct or indirect personakbrels from
Plaintiffs in exchange for AP’s recommendationite t
Guatemalan officials that they assist in Plaintiffother
prospective adoptive parents’ adoptions;

extortion Gee suprdf 11 —155) that was designed to
extract direct or indirect personal rewards from
Plaintiffs; if Plaintiffs or another prospectiveagdive
refused to succumb to Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell’'s
demands for money or foreign and administrative
fees, they would stop the adoption or adoption
activities and prevent the Plaintiffs from moving
forward in the adoption, for personal gain; alsome
said acts of extortion were in violation of 18 \CS.
§1951;

a scheme to defraudd€e suprdf 11-155) that was
knowingly and intentionally devised by Joanne

and/or Todd Mitchell to obtain Plaintiffs money or
property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises; and, for the purpbse
executing such scheme, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell
placed or caused to be placed in a post office, or
authorized depository for mail, matter that furder

the scheme to defraud (including but not limited to
the communications described in §§ 11 —155); Joanne
and/or Todd Mitchell committed mail fraud, in
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violation of 18 U.S.C § 1341, each time they used o
caused the mails to be used to distribute the rakter
described in paragraphs 11-155 and elsewhere.

(iv)  ascheme to defraudde suprd 11 —155) that was
knowingly and intentionally devised by Joanne
and/or Todd Mitchell to obtain Plaintiffs money or
property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises; and, for the purpbse
executing such scheme, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell
transmitted or caused to be transmitted by means of
wire, radio, or television communication in intetst
or foreign commerce matter that furthered the sehem
to defraud (including but not limited to the
communications described in 1 11 —155; Joanne
and/or Todd Mitchell committed wire fraud, in
violation of 18 U.S.C § 1343, each time it used or
caused interstate wires to be used to distribete th
materials described in paragraphs 11 —155 and
elsewhere;

(v)  receiving and/or possessing Plaintiffs propert
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2315, valued at $5,000 or
more, which crossed a state or international baynda
after Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell stole, unlawfully
converted, or took Plaintiffs property and which
Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell Palakanis knew was
stolen, unlawfully converted, or taken (including b
not limited to the events described in paragraghs 1
155 and elsewhere);

(vi)  transporting, transmitting, or transferringimerstate
commerce any goods, wares, merchandise of the
value of $5,000 or more, knowing the same to have
been stolen converted or taken by fraud, each and
every time that Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell caused
Plaintiffs to transmit property across state or
international boundaries and each time that Joanne
and/or Todd Mitchell transmitted Plaintiffs propert
to third-parties across state or international
boundaries as (including but not limited to thergse
described in paragraphs 11 —155), in violation&f 1
U.S.C. § 2314,

(vii)  traveling in interstate and foreign commemeusing the mail
or any facility in interstate or foreign commercighwintent to
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distribute the proceeds of extortion or otherwissmmote,
manage, establish, or carry on a scheme to extdrt a
thereafter performed or attempted to perform setisl &
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1952.
These acts all occurred after the effective daieIGO and more than two such acts
occurred within ten years of one another.

188. In the alternative to paragraph 187, at all reléviares, some or all of the
following individuals constituted an “enterpris&ithin the meaning of 18 U.S.C. 88
1961(4) and 1962(c), in that they were “a groumdividuals associated in fact”:
Adoption Partners, Inc.., Joanne and/or Todd Mitche

(@ Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell are each indivioersons,” within
the meaning of 18 U.S.C. 88 1961(3) and 1962(c} agdsociated
with and/or participated in the conduct of saicegmise’s affairs.

(b) For an unknown and indefinite period of timeadne and/or
Todd Mitchell have conducted, participated in, egghin,
conspired to engage in, or aided and abetted giinduct of
the affairs of the enterprise through a pattemacketeering
activity within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §8 1961(1961(5)
and 1962(c). Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell’'s pastern
racketeering activity consisted of:

() bribe solicitation ¢ee suprd 37, 50, 51, 136) that was
designed to extract direct or indirect personakbrels from
Plaintiffs in exchange for AP’s recommendationhe t
Guatemalan officials that they assist in Plaintiiser
prospective adoptive parents’ adoptions;

(i) extortion cee suprd 1-155) that was designed to

extract direct or indirect personal rewards from
Plaintiffs; if Plaintiffs or another prospectivecudive
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refused to succumb to Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell’'s
demands for money or foreign and administrative
fees, they would stop the adoption or adoption
activities and prevent the Plaintiffs from moving
forward in the adoption, for personal gain; alsome
said acts of extortion were in violation of 18 \CS.

§ 1951,

a scheme to defraudée suprd]f 11-155) that was
knowingly and intentionally devised by Joanne
and/or Todd Mitchell to obtain Plaintiffs money or
property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises; and, for the purpbse
executing such scheme, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell
placed or caused to be placed in a post office, or
authorized depository for mail, matter that furder

the scheme to defraud (including but not limited to
the communications described in {{ 11-155; Joanne
and/or Todd Mitchell committed mail fraud, in
violation of 18 U.S.C § 1341, each time they used o
caused the mails to be used to distribute the rakster
described in paragraphs 11 —155 and elsewhere.

a scheme to defraudde suprd]f 11 —155) that was
knowingly and intentionally devised by Joanne
and/or Todd Mitchell to obtain Plaintiffs money or
property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises; and, for the purpbse
executing such scheme, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell
transmitted or caused to be transmitted by means of
wire, radio, or television communication in intetst

or foreign commerce matter that furthered the sehem
to defraud (including but not limited to the
communications described in 1Y 11-155); Joanne
and/or Todd Mitchell committed wire fraud, in
violation of 18 U.S.C § 1343, each time it used or
caused interstate wires to be used to distribete th
materials described in paragraphs 11-155 and
elsewhere;

receiving and/or possessing Plaintiffs progert
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2315, valued at $5,000 or
more, which crossed a state or international baynda
after Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell stole, unlawfully
converted, or took Plaintiffs property and which
Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell knew was stolen,
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unlawfully converted, or taken (including but not
limited to the events described in paragraphs BL-15
and elsewhere);

(viy  transporting, transmitting, or transferringimerstate
commerce any goods, wares, merchandise of the
value of $5,000 or more, knowing the same to have
been stolen converted or taken by fraud, each and
every time that Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell caused
Plaintiffs to transmit property across state or
international boundaries and each time that Joanne
and/or Todd Mitchell transmitted Plaintiffs propert
to third-parties across state or international
boundaries as (including but not limited to thergse
described in paragraphs 11-155), in violation of 18
U.S.C. § 2314,

(vii)  traveling in interstate and foreign commemreusing the malil
or any facility in interstate or foreign commercighwintent to
distribute the proceeds of extortion or otherwissnmote,
manage, establish, or carry on a scheme to extdrt a
thereafter performed or attempted to perform seiisl &
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1952.

These acts all occurred after the effective daiIGO and more than two such acts
occurred within ten years of one another.

189. At all relevant times, the enterprises alleged amagraphs 187-188 were
engaged in, and their activities affected, intéestammerce and foreign commerce.

190. All of the predicate acts described above weretgelgzo as to establish a
pattern of racketeering activity, within the meanof 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), in that their
common purpose was to solicit bribes, extort anfitadd Plaintiffs or other similar
prospective adoptive parents of money or propedgnne and/or Todd Mitchell each

personally or through their agents or agents, tirec indirectly, participated in all of the

acts and employed the same or similar methods rafrgssion; Plaintiffs, other similar
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prospective adoptive parents, were the victim$efftaudulent acts; and/or the acts were
otherwise interrelated by distinguishing charastes and were not isolated events.

191. All of the predicate acts described above wereigoatis so as to form
patterns of racketeering activity in that:

a) Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell engaged in the pageliacts
described above over a substantial period of tone;

b) The patterns of racketeering activity engagdalyidoanne
and/or Todd Mitchell continue or threaten to coumin
because the patterns have become a regular way of
conducting Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell’s on-goingibess
activities 6ee, e.9.Y 28, 32, 34, 36, 91, 101, 139, 141, 152)

192. As a direct and result of, and by reason of, thieiaes of Joanne and/or
Todd Mitchell, and their conduct in violation of BS.C. 88 1962(c), Plaintiffs have
been injured in its business or property, withietireaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c).
Among other things, have suffered damages to ttemethe Plaintiff invested time and
resources in pursuing what they thought and weréoldelieve was a legitimate adoption
opportunity with AP, to the extent its ability toraplete adoptions and or facilitate
adoptions was delayed by Joanne and Todd Mitchetbsmgful actions, and to the extent
their property has been misappropriated. Plagndifé, therefore, entitled to recover
threefold the damages they sustained togetherthngtbost of the suit, including

reasonable attorneys' and experts' fees.

COUNT FOUR

RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS ACT
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18 U.S.C. § 1962(d)
(Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell)

193. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 192 assifated herein.

194. AP conspired with Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell toduct or participate,
directly or indirectly, in the conduct of the affapf the enterprise through a pattern of
racketeering activity (as described in paragrai@s188) in violation of 18 U.S.C.

§ 1962(d). In particular, AP intended to furtheresdeavor of Joanne and/or Todd
Mitchell which, if completed, would satisfy all tife elements of a substantive RICO
criminal offense and adopted the goal of furtheanéacilitating the criminal endeavor.

195. Joanne Mitchell conspired with AP and/or Todd Méithto conduct or
participate, directly or indirectly, in the condwétthe affairs of the enterprise through a
pattern of racketeering activity (as describedaragraphs 187-188) in violation of 18
U.S.C. 8 1962(d). In particular, Joanne Mitcheiémded to further an endeavor of AP
and Todd Mitchell which, if completed, would safisil of the elements of a substantive
RICO criminal offense and adopted the goal of fnitig or facilitating the criminal
endeavor.$%ee suprge.g,1 56, 57, 65)

196. Todd Mitchell conspired with AP and Joanne Mitcheltonduct or
participate, directly or indirectly, in the condwétthe affairs of the enterprise through a
pattern of racketeering activity (as describedaragraphs 187-188) in violation of 18
U.S.C. § 1962(d). In particular, Todd intendeduixtfer an endeavor of AP and/or Joanne
Mitchell which, if completed, would satisfy all tife elements of a substantive RICO
criminal offense and adopted the goal of furtheanéacilitating the criminal endeavor.

(See supree.g,1 56, 57, 65)
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197. As a direct and proximate result of, and by readpthe activities of AP,
Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell, and their conductitetion of 18 U.S.C. 88 1962(d),
Plaintiffs have been injured in their businessropprty, within the meaning of 18 U.S.C.
8 1964(c). Among other things, Plaintiffs havefetgd damages to the extent they
invested time and resources in pursing what theyght and were led to believe was a
legitimate adoption opportunity with AP, to theextthe ability to complete adoptions
and or facilitate Guatemalan adoptions were delayetiP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell
wrongful actions, and to the extent their proplag been misappropriated. Plaintiffs are,
therefore, entitled to recover threefold the damdlgat they have sustained together with

the cost of the suit, including reasonable attashayd experts' fees.

COUNT FIVE

UNJUST ENRICHMENT
(Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell)

198. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 197 assifated herein.

199. Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell havegcdy or indirectly,
wrongfully received all or part of Plaintiffs praye and money related to the adoptions.
200. Despite Plaintiffs’ repeated requests, DefendamsJvanne and/or Todd

Mitchell have refused to fully compensate Plaistftir the value of the property and
money related to the adoptions received.
201. As a result, AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell haaenbunjustly enriched.
202. By reason of the foregoing, and as a direct anglipiate result, Plaintiffs
are entitled to a judgment in an amount to be detexd by the Court, but which is in

excess of seventy-five thousand ($75,000).
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COUNT SIX

CONVERSION
(Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell)

203. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 202 assifated herein.

204. Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell haveexed to their own
use and benefit Plaintiffs property and money eeldab the adoptions.

205. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants &nne and/or Todd
Mitchell’'s conversion of Plaintiffs assets, Pldiisthave incurred and/or will continue to
incur substantial damages in an amount to be detedhiby the Court, but which is in

excess of seventy-five thousand ($75,000).

COUNT SEVEN

CIVIL CONSPIRACY
(Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell)

206. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 205 assifated herein.
207. Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell illegathaliciously, and

wrongfully conspired with one another with the imté and _for the illegal purpose of

committing fraudulent adoptions througlbait and switch schemean adoption

scheme that offered illusory promises and convarefdhe money and property of the
Plaintiffs.

208. Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell, in cowadon, conspired to
obtain money through their fraudulent adoption stée

209. This conspiracy resulted in the illegal, unlawfar tortious activity of

fraud and violations of the Racketeer Influenced @orrupt Organizations Act.
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210. As a result of the conspiracy and Defendant APpdeand/or Todd
Mitchell’s illegal, wrongful, or tortious acts, Rdiffs sustained the following
damages: loss of money for adoptions, adminisgdges, translation fees, travel fees,
lodging costs, fees for hiring adoption facilitatoforeign fees, loss of employment and
housing, emotional damages and other damages Hyahave yet to be determined.

211. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants &d&nne and/or Todd
Mitchell conspiracy to obtain Plaintiff's assetfaiRtiffs have incurred and/or will
continue to incur substantial damages in an amiouiné determined by the Court, but

which is in excess of seventy-five thousand ($78)0

COUNT EIGHT

FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION
(Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell)

212. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 211 assifated herein.

213. Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell intevaity made false
representations of material facts to Plaintiffsarelgng the success of the adoptions, the
ability of selecting a child from photo listing$et ability of the Defendants to “hold” a
child for adoption, the ability of Defendants tawalete adoptions due to their
relationship with Guatemalan officials, the cossefvices, the availability of children
available to adopt, as set forth in the precedarggraphs.

214, Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell’s regmesgtions were false

when they were made.
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215. Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell knew tte representations
were false when they were made or made them restiegithout knowing whether
they were true.

216. Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell interttdad Plaintiffs rely
on the representations.

217. Plaintiffs relied on Defendant’s false represeptagiby signing an illusory
Adoption Contract in the hopes of adopting a child.

218. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants &d&nne and/or Todd
Mitchell’s fraudulent misrepresentation, Plaintiffave incurred and/or will continue to
incur substantial damages in an amount to be detechiby the Court, but which is in
excess of seventy-five thousand ($75,000).

COUNT NINE

INNOCENT MISREPRESENTATION
(Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell)

2109. Plaintiffs re-allege and restate paragraphs 1 gir@18 as if restated herein.

220. Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell’s regmesions, as set forth
in the preceding paragraphs, were made in conmewtithh the making of a contract
between Plaintiffs and Defendants AP, Joanne afid@d Mitchell.

221. Plaintiffs would not have entered into the conttachdopt a Guatemalan
child if Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchelll not made the representations.
222. Plaintiffs suffered substantial economic lossea essult of entering into
the contract, and these losses benefited Defendéhtdoanne and/or Todd Mitchell.

223. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants Xd&dnne and Todd

Mitchell’s fraudulent misrepresentation, Plaintiffave incurred and/or will continue to
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incur substantial damages in an amount to be detedhiby the Court, but which is in
excess of seventy-five thousand ($75,000).
COUNT TEN

INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS
(Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell)

224, Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 223 assifated herein.

225. Defendants AP, Joanne and Todd Mitchell’'s fraudulepresentations and
illegal activities were made intentionally, outragsly and maliciously and have
caused Plaintiffs to suffer humiliation, outraggjignation, sleepless nights, and
severe emotional distress.

226. Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell continnetheir enterprise
of fraudulent behavior with reckless disregardnte émotional impact to the Plaintiffs.

2217. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants &d&dnne and/or Todd
Mitchell’s Intentional Infliction of Emotional Disess, Plaintiffs have incurred and/or
will continue to incur emotional distress and sahthl damages in an amount to be
determined by the Court, but which is in excesse¥enty-five thousand ($75,000).

COUNT ELEVEN

NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS
(Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell)

228. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 228 assifated herein.

229. Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell’s frdeadurepresentations
and illegal activities were made intentionally, ggeously and maliciously and have
caused Plaintiffs to suffer humiliation, outraggdignation, sleepless nights, and

severe emotional distress.
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230. Defendants AP, Joanne and/or Todd Mitchell continneheir enterprise
of fraudulent behavior with reckless disregardi® émotional impact to the Plaintiffs
and their spouses or partners.

231. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants Xdanne and Todd
Mitchell’s Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distss, Plaintiff's spouses and family
members have incurred and/or will continue to earati distress and substantial
damages in an amount to be determined by the Cmutrtyhich is in excess of

seventy-five thousand ($75,000).

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment from the Court asdaf:
1. To award damages against Defendants AP, Joannar drodid
Mitchell, jointly and severally, for a sum of monegual to the amount of

damages and/or losses Plaintiffs have sustainedllsustain;

2. To treble the amount of said damages pursuant td.38C. §
1964(c);
3. To award prejudgment interest on the amount of dg@sand/or

losses that Plaintiffs have sustained;

4, To award all costs of litigation incurred by Pldist including
their reasonable attorneys’ fees and experts’ fagsuant to 18 U.S.C. §
1964(c), ; and

5. To award damages in an amount in excess of $75e3Ming

from Defendant’s intentional and malicious actions;

6. And to award such other and further relief as tber€deems just

and equitable.
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Dated: November 3, 2008

Plaintiffs demand a Jury Trial.

Dated: November 3, 2008
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FIXEL LAW OFFICES, PLLC

/s/ Joni M. Fixel
Joni M. Fixel (P56712)
Marlo D. Bruch-Barrett (P70362)
4990 Northwind Drive, Suite 121
East Lansing, M|l 48823
Telephone: (517) 332-3390
Facsimile: (517) 853-0434
ffixel@fixellawoffices.com

Myra Loughran

Local Counsel

Myra Loughran, P.A.

Florida Bar No. 866849

333 First St. N., Ste 305
Jacksonville Beach, FL 32250
(904) 249-8500 office

(904) 249-4042 fax
myra@jaxbeachlaw.com

Jury Demand

FIXEL LAW OFFICES, PLLC

/s/Joni M. Fixel
Joni M. Fixel (P56712)
Marlo D. Bruch-Barrett (P70362)
4990 Northwind Drive, Suite 121
East Lansing, M|l 48823
Telephone: (517) 332-3390
Facsimile: (517) 853-0434
ffixel@fixellawoffices.com

Myra Loughran

Local Counsel

Myra Loughran, P.A.

Florida Bar No. 866849

333 First St. N., Ste 305
Jacksonville Beach, FL 32250
(904) 249-8500 office

(904) 249-4042 fax
myra@jaxbeachlaw.com
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